Solar axions in large extra dimensions

Mar Bastero-Gil,^a Cyprien Beaufort,^b Daniel Santos^b

^aDepartamento de Física Teórica y del Cosmos, Universidad de Granada, Granada-18071, Spain

^bLaboratoire de Physique Subatomique et de Cosmologie, Univ. Grenoble-Alpes(UGA), CNRS, Grenoble INP^{*}, LPSC-IN2P3, 38000 Grenoble, France

*Institute of Engineering Univ. Grenoble Alpes

E-mail: mbg@ugr.es, beaufort@lpsc.in2p3.fr, santos@lpsc.in2p3.fr

Abstract. The axion could be used as a probe for extra dimensions. In large extra dimensions, besides the QCD axion one obtains an infinite tower of massive Kaluza-Klein (KK) states. We describe the processes of KK axions production in the Sun via the axion-photon coupling, $g_{a\gamma\gamma\gamma}$ and we derive the number density of KK axions that get trapped into the solar gravitational field and then accumulate over cosmic times. The large multiplicity of states, as well as their masses in the keV-range, deeply alter the phenomenology of the axion. This scenario leads us to propose the presence of KK axions as an interpretation of the non-thermal distribution of the solar X-rays. In this work, we dedicate special attention on the astrophysical and cosmological bounds that apply to the model. In particular, we show how the KK axions may escape the EBL limit that constrains standard ALPs in the same mass range. Present searches for KK axions make use of the decay channel, $a \to \gamma \gamma$, for which we revise the event rate; our value lies orders of magnitude below the rate usually quoted in the literature. This major conclusion stems from recent measurements of the luminosity of the quiet Sun which acts as an irreducible limit. The revised model remains a viable and an attractive explanation for multiple astrophysical observations, and we propose several approaches to search for solar KK axions in the near future.

Contents

1	Introduction	1				
2	Axions in large extra dimensions					
3	Production of KK axions in the Sun					
	3.1 Primakoff process	7				
	3.2 Photon coalescence	7				
	3.3 Plasmon decay	9				
4	Gravitationally trapped KK axions					
	4.1 Number density of KK axions	11				
	4.2 Monte Carlo simulation	12				
5	Constraining the solar KK axion model					
	5.1 Solar luminosity from KK axion	15				
	5.2 Solar energy loss	16				
	5.3 Extragalactic background light	18				
6	Experimental searches for KK axion					
	6.1 Event rate of the KK axion decay in a detector on Earth	21				
	6.2 Other strategies of detection	23				
7	Conclusion	24				
\mathbf{A}	Plasmon decay rate	25				
в	3 Derivation of the number density					
С	KK axions within the FoV of SphinX					

1 Introduction

In theories with large extra dimensions, the fundamental scale of quantum gravity can be lowered near the TeV-scale without violating experimental constraints [1, 2]. Such a framework naturally solves the mass hierarchy problem and it can be embedded in string theory [3–5] while preserving gauge coupling unification [6, 7]. This approach offers new models describing, among others, inflation [8, 9], the baryon asymmetry [10] or the proton stability [11]. In the original scenario, called ADD from the names of the founders, the Standard Model (SM) particles are constrained to live on a 4-dimensional Minkowski brane whereas singlets under the SM gauge group can propagate into the bulk of dimension (4 + n). The weakness of gravity at large distances is explained by the propagation of gravitons in the bulk. The *n* extra dimensions are compactified and large compared to the electroweak scale, up to the micrometer range, which allows for experimental tests of the theory.

The ADD's claim that the electroweak scale is the only fundamental scale seems, at first glance, incompatible with the usual need for intermediate scales to address phenomenological

issues as the neutrino oscillations or the strong CP problem. However, the potential propagations of right-handed neutrinos and axions in the bulk give rise to a higher-dimensional seesaw mechanism without a heavy mass scale [12, 13], and to an experimentally allowed breaking of the Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry near the electroweak scale that preserves axion invisibility [2, 14–16].

In the standard picture, the axion is a hypothetical pseudoscalar that arises from the breaking of a global U(1) symmetry called the PQ symmetry [17–19]. When the axion relaxes to its minimum of the potential, it dynamically compensates the CP-violating term of QCD and consequently solves the strong CP problem. The scale of the PQ symmetry breaking, f_{PQ} , is assumed to be in the range $f_{PQ} \sim (10^9 - 10^{12})$ GeV which makes the axion a stable particle, weakly coupled to the SM particles and with a mass $m_{PQ} \sim \mathcal{O}(10 \,\mu\text{eV})$. The axion is hence a viable non-baryonic candidate for Dark Matter [20–22] even if this interesting feature was not the initial purpose of its prediction.

The situation drastically changes in the framework of large extra dimensions. In the simplest scenario, the *n* extra dimensions are toroidally compactified and we assume axions are free to propagate in $\delta \leq n$ extra dimensions. Due to the periodicity of the extra dimensions, the axion field in the bulk can be Fourier expanded into an infinite number of modes. From our 4-dimensional brane, the axion is seen as an infinite superposition of massive states, called a Kaluza-Klein (KK) tower, and there is one KK tower for each of the δ extra dimensions in which the axion propagates. In other words, observed from our 4-dimensional brane, the standard QCD axion appears as complemented by δ infinite towers of massive KK states arising from the new phase space available in the bulk.

The presence of the KK towers and the extra dimensions deeply affect the physics of the axion. First, the coupling of the KK axions remains parametrized by f_{PQ} whereas the overall scale of the PQ symmetry breaking, \bar{f}_{PQ} , is now suppressed by a volume-renormalization factor. While the experimentally constrained scale f_{PQ} is unchanged, \bar{f}_{PQ} can lie near the electroweak scale. Second, only the ground state of the KK tower, a_0 , transforms under a PQ transformation [15]. The strong CP problem is still solved in extra large dimensions and a_0 can be identified as the standard QCD axion. Third, KK axions would be produced with masses in the keV-range. Each KK mode can decay into 2 photons with lifetimes that can be of the order of the age of the universe, which leads to important consequences on astrophysics and cosmology, but also on detection since the channel $a \to \gamma \gamma$ has been proposed for experimental searches [16, 23]. Finally, the large number of states strongly enhances any phenomenon mediated by the axions.

KK axion modes up to the kinematic limit would be produced in astrophysical objects. The Sun appears as a particularly interesting source due to its proximity and its relatively well-known characteristics. Moreover, part of the KK axions produced by the Sun are sufficiently non-relativistic to be trapped into the solar gravitational field. These orbiting axions accumulate over cosmic times and consequently increase the present KK axion flux in a detector on Earth by about 5 orders of magnitude compared to the direct flux of axions emitted by the Sun. The decay of these trapped KK axions into photons acts as a new X-rays source in the solar system and has been proposed as an explanation to the coronal heating problem [23] and to the non-thermal distribution of the solar X-rays measurements [24].

Searches for solar KK axions have started using axion helioscopes [25, 26] or via the decay into photons [27–31]. As far as we know, there is only a single paper describing the model of trapped KK axions [23] which sets the basis for experimental searches, and this pioneer paper contains few mathematical details. The present work aims to entirely revise

the solar KK axion model, to provide analytical expressions for phenomenology, and to update the experimental constraints that apply on the model with recent measurements. We expect to shine light on how KK axions can be used as probe for extra dimensions.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we describe the physics of the axions in large extra dimensions. Section 3 is dedicated to processes of KK axions production in the Sun in order to determine the solar KK axions flux. The case of gravitational trapped KK axions is discussed in Section 4 where we derive an expression for the number density of KK axions, which plays a major role for experimental searches. In Section 5, we revise the constraints that apply on the model and we discuss a possible explanation of the nonthermal distribution of the solar X-rays measurements. Finally, we conclude by studying some strategies of detection in Section 6. In particular, we update the decay event rate $(a \rightarrow \gamma \gamma)$ in a detector on Earth showing that this channel of detection, the most investigated in experiments, seems inaccessible with present technologies, except if one can reject almost perfectly the background. We anyway propose other approaches to search for solar KK axions.

2 Axions in large extra dimensions

Let first briefly describe the standard axions before discussing the higher-dimensional case. Axions are pseudo Goldstone bosons associated to the breaking of a global $U(1)_{PQ}$ symmetry, as proposed by Peccei and Quinn in order to solve the strong CP problem [32]. For the moment we limit our study to the minimal scenario of hadronic models in which axions do not couple to fermions at tree-level. The effective axion Lagrangian of interest for us is given by:

$$\mathcal{L}_{eff} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} a)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m_{PQ}^2 a^2 + \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}}{4} a F^{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.1)$$

in which a is the axion, $F^{\mu\nu}$ is the electromagnetic field tensor, $\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$ is its dual, and m_{PQ} is the axion mass that can be expressed as [33]:

$$m_{PQ} = 5.70(7) \,\mu \text{eV} \left(\frac{10^{12} \,\text{GeV}}{f_{PQ}}\right).$$
 (2.2)

We call f_{PQ} the scale of the $U(1)_{PQ}$ symmetry breaking and we define the effective axionphoton coupling $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ as:

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} \equiv \frac{\xi \alpha_{em}}{2\pi f_{PQ}} \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where ξ is a model-dependent constant of order unity and α_{em} is the fine-structure constant. The scale of symmetry breaking, f_{PQ} , is constrained from astrophysical (lower limit) [34, 35] and cosmological (upper limit) considerations [20–22, 36], with the usually quoted bounds:

$$10^9 \,\text{GeV} \lesssim f_{PQ} \lesssim 10^{12} \,\text{GeV} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

Finally, we present the expression for the lifetime of the axion:

$$\tau_{a \to \gamma\gamma} = \frac{64\pi}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 m_{PQ}^3} \simeq 1.5 \times 10^{45} \,\mathrm{days} \left(\frac{10^{-15} \,\mathrm{GeV}^{-1}}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{10^{-5} \,\mathrm{eV}}{m_{PQ}}\right)^3.$$
(2.5)

From the previous expressions we see that the axion is feebly coupled to Standard Model particles, that it is a light particle and that its lifetime in the allowed range given by Eq.(2.4)

is much larger than the age of the universe, rendering the axion effectively stable. This consideration rules out the possibility of detecting the axion through the decay channel $a \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$.

We will now discuss the higher-dimensional case and the consequences for axion physics. Let consider n large extra spatial dimensions to be compactified on a \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold with an orbifold action $\mathbf{y} \to -\mathbf{y}$. For simplicity and conceptual reasons we consider all the extra dimensions to have the same compactification radius R. In this scenario, the graviton is free to propagate in all dimensions and the fundamental gravitational scale, M_* , can be much lower than the Planck scale, M_P , due to the extra dimensions volume suppression. They are related to each other via the expression [1]:

$$M_P = \left(2\pi R M_*\right)^{n/2} M_* \,. \tag{2.6}$$

The original motivation of such a scenario was to keep the fundamental scale M_* in the TeV range in order to solve the hierarchy problem of the SM. While the particles of the SM are constrained to live on a 4-dimensional Minkowski brane, any singlets under the SM symmetry may propagate in $\delta \leq n$ dimensions. This can be the case for the axion and, similarly to the gravitational case, the 4-dimensional axion scale f_{PQ} can be much larger than the fundamental axion scale \bar{f}_{PQ} of the overall theory:

$$f_{PQ} = \left(2\pi R M_*\right)^{\delta/2} \bar{f}_{PQ} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

This relation tells us that the fundamental scale \bar{f}_{PQ} could be very low, perhaps in the TeV range, while letting the experimentally constrained 4-dimensional scale f_{PQ} in the range of Eq.(2.4). It is also tempting to keep the fundamental scale $M_* \sim \mathcal{O}(1 - 100 \text{ TeV})$ in order to solve the mass hierarchy problem of the Standard Model. Without introducing any other fundamental besides M_* and the compactification radius R, *i.e.* taking $\bar{f}_{PQ} = M_*$, we see that if the axion propagates in the same number of extra dimensions than gravity, the 4-dimensional axion scale f_{PQ} must be at the Planck scale and thus disagree with the experimental constraints of Eq.(2.4).

The size of the extra dimensions, described by R, influences many observables and is consequently constrained from multiple measurements. A considerable review of such limits can be found in [37], we list in Table 1 the most striking bounds on R obtained from tests of Newton law, colliders and astrophysical considerations.

<i>r</i>	ı	1	2	3	4	5	6
	Pendulum	2.2×10^5	/	/	/	/	/
$B [keV^{-1}]$	Colliders	/	2.5×10^4	$6.2 imes 10^{-1}$	3.1×10^{-3}	1.2×10^{-4}	$1.5 imes 10^{-5}$
	SN 1987A	2.5×10^{12}	4.9×10^3	5.8	1.9×10^{-1}	2.5×10^{-2}	6.1×10^{-3}
	Neutron star	$2.2 imes 10^5$	$7.9 imes 10^{-1}$	1.3×10^{-2}	$1.7 imes 10^{-3}$	$5.1 imes 10^{-4}$	$2.2 imes 10^{-4}$

Table 1. Limits on R from torsion-pendulum experiments [38], from colliders (CMS) [39] and from the duration of the neutrino signal of the supernova SN 1987A and neutron-star excess heat [40].

The results quoted as "neutron stars" set the most stringent limits on R for $\delta < 5$. They are obtained from the hypothetical γ rays production due to the decay of KK gravitons trapped in a neutron star gravitational field. However, we suppose here the existence of KK axions, and it has been shown that KK gravitons would mainly decay into KK axions if they exist [14], process that would alter the derived limits. Plus, the branching ratio of KK graviton decay into photons could be drastically lowered if another brane exists as pointed out by the founders of the ADD model [2]. For those reasons, we do not consider the limits on R derived from neutron stars in this work.

With those elements in mind, and following the approach of [2, 14-16], let us have a look to the physics of the axion in large extra dimensions as seen from our 4-dimensional brane. Let denote $\mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_{\delta})$ the coordinates of the axion in each extra dimensions $\delta \leq n$ it propagates so that the coordinates of the axion can be written $x^M \equiv (x^{\mu}, \mathbf{y})$ where M is a spacetime index that runs over the $(4 + \delta)$ dimensions. The $(4 + \delta)$ -action is given by:

$$S_{4+\delta} = \int d^4x \, d^\delta \mathbf{y} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} M^{\delta}_*(\partial_M a) (\partial^M a) + \frac{\xi \alpha_{em}}{8\pi \bar{f}_{PQ}} \, a \, F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} \, \delta^{(\delta)}(\mathbf{y}) \right\}.$$
(2.8)

We now need to compactify the extra dimensions in order to get the effective 4-dimensional theory. Since the axion field is compactified on a \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold, one has:

$$a(x^{\mu}, \mathbf{y}) = a(x^{\mu}, \mathbf{y} + 2\pi R)$$
 and $a(x^{\mu}, \mathbf{y}) = a(x^{\mu}, -\mathbf{y})$, (2.9)

and therefore one can Fourier expand the field without loss of generality:

$$a(x^{\mu}, \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\mathbf{n}=0}^{\infty} a_{\mathbf{n}}(x^{\mu}) \cos\left(\frac{\mathbf{n}\,\mathbf{y}}{R}\right), \qquad (2.10)$$

yielding an infinite superposition of modes; this procedure is called a Kaluza-Klein (KK) decomposition. In the equation, $a_{\mathbf{n}}(x^{\mu}) \in \mathbb{R}$ are the KK modes, $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_{\delta})$ is a δ -dimensional vector that labels the KK modes, and the sum runs over all extra dimensions $\sum_{\mathbf{n}=0}^{\infty} \equiv \sum_{n_1=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n_2=0}^{\infty} \cdots \sum_{n_{\delta}=0}^{\infty}$. The next step is to plug this KK decomposition into the $(4 + \delta)$ -action and to integrate over the δ extra dimensions to get the effective 4-dimensional Lagrangian of the theory that describes the axion as seen from our brane:

$$\mathcal{L}_{eff}^{4D} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{n}=0}^{\infty} \left(\partial_{\mu} a_{\mathbf{n}}\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} a_{\mathbf{n}}\right) - \frac{1}{2} m_{PQ}^{2} a_{0}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{n}\neq\mathbf{0}}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbf{n}^{2}}{R^{2}} a_{\mathbf{n}} + \frac{\xi \alpha_{em}}{8\pi f_{PQ}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{n}=0}^{\infty} r_{\mathbf{n}} a_{\mathbf{n}}\right) F^{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.11)

with $r_0 = 1$ and $r_{n\neq 0} = \sqrt{2}$ which are rescaling coefficients to ensure that the KK modes a_n have canonically normalized kinetic-energy terms [15].

A few comments are needed at this stage. First, a single axion propagating in the bulk will be seen from our 4-dimensional brane as a sum of δ infinite superpositions of massive states with same quantum numbers, the overall superposition being called a Kaluza-Klein tower. The mass of each KK mode depends on the value of the momentum of the axion along the extra dimensions, this momentum being quantized due the compactification of the extra dimensions. The KK axion masses are given by [15]:

$$m_{a_0} = \min\left(m_{PQ}, \frac{1}{2R}\right)$$
 and $m_{a_n} \simeq \frac{|\mathbf{n}|}{R} = \frac{\sqrt{n_1^2 + n_2^2 + \dots + n_\delta^2}}{R}$. (2.12)

In the phenomenologically interesting situations that we will consider later we have $m_{PQ} \ll 1/R$, so the fundamental mode of the KK tower is equal to the 4-dimensional Peccei-Quinn

mass, $m_{a_0} = m_{PQ}$. It means that one can let $m_{PQ} \sim 10 \,\mu\text{eV}$ as in the standard case while having larger masses in the KK tower. We also see that the mass splitting of the KK tower is $\sim 1/R$. The differential mode multiplicity can reach very large values and is given by:

$$\frac{dN}{dm} = \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} R^{\delta} m^{(\delta-1)} .$$
(2.13)

Second, it can be shown that a higher-dimensional Peccei-Quinn mechanism exists and that only the fundamental mode a_0 transforms under the $U(1)_{PQ}$ symmetry [15]. In other words, the strong CP problem is still solved when the axion propagates in the bulk and one can identify the lightest KK mode a_0 to the standard QCD axion. Third, the last term of the effective Lagrangian Eq.(2.11) tells us that each individual KK mode couples to the electromagnetic tensor with the same coupling than in the 4-dimensional case, $\frac{1}{4}g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ defined in Eq.(2.3), up to a factor $r_{\mathbf{n}}$ that we will ignore for the rest of the paper for simplicity. The lifetime of each individual KK mode is now given by:

$$\tau \left(a_{\mathbf{n}} \to \gamma \gamma \right) \simeq \frac{64\pi}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 m_{a_{\mathbf{n}}}^3} \simeq 4.9 \times 10^{17} \,\mathrm{s} \, \left(\frac{10^{-13} \,\mathrm{GeV}^{-1}}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}} \right)^2 \left(\frac{30 \,\mathrm{keV}}{m_{a_{\mathbf{n}}}} \right)^3. \tag{2.14}$$

We can now touch the attractiveness of such a framework. The axion was first proposed to solve the strong CP problem and it has received considerable interest for more than four decades, both from theoretical and experimental aspects [41, 42]. In theories with large extra dimensions, the axion remains a compelling solution of the strong CP problem and a viable dark matter candidate, but its phenomenology changes. Instead of having one light particle, we must now consider an infinite number of massive states (the Kaluza-Klein axions), forming a continuum for large enough extra dimensions, with a large multiplicity of states.

As in the standard case, KK axions would be produced in astrophysical objects. We will show that the Sun would produced KK axions with masses distributed in the (1 - 30) keV range. With such masses, the lifetime of KK axions could be of the order of the age of the universe and the photons obtained from its decay $a_{\mathbf{n}} \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$ would have impact on cosmology and astrophysics, and would open a new channel for experimental searches. Moreover, as we will demonstrate, part of the KK axions produced by the Sun would be trapped in its gravitational field.

3 Production of KK axions in the Sun

In hadronic models, KK axions are produced in the Sun via three dominant processes. The Primakoff process $\gamma + Ze \rightarrow Ze + a$ converts a photon into an axion in the electrostatic field of a nucleus or an electron. The second process is the coalescence of two photons $\gamma\gamma \rightarrow a$, which is kinematically suppressed for small masses (as for the QCD axion) but turns to be significant for producing KK axions with masses in the keV-range. In the thermal environment of the Sun, photons acquire a thermal "mass" and a longitudinal component. This phenomenon opens up a third production process from the decay of a transverse plasmon $\gamma_T \rightarrow \gamma_L + a$. It is worth to mention at this stage that the phenomenology of solar KK axions is almost exclusively driven by the process of photon coalescence since it produces non-relativistic KK axions that are susceptible to be trapped in the gravitational field of the Sun, as we will see in Section 4.

3.1 Primakoff process

The Primakoff transition rate for KK axions produced in the Sun is derived in [16, 43]

$$\Gamma_{\gamma \to a}^{\text{Primakoff}} = \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 T \kappa^2}{32\pi^2} \frac{|\mathbf{k}|}{\omega} \int d\Omega \frac{|\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{p}|^2}{(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{p})^2 ((\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{p})^2 + \kappa^2)}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where T is the temperature at production, **p** is the axion momentum, **k** the photon one, and ω the photon energy; κ is the Debye-Hückel screening scale, given in general by $\kappa^2 = (4\pi\alpha/T)\sum_j Z_j^2 n_j$, where n_j is the number density of charged particles. For small momenta, it can be expressed as:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma \to a}^{\text{Primakoff}} = \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 T \kappa^2}{32\pi} \left(\frac{8p^2}{3(\kappa^2 + m^2)} + \mathcal{O}(p^4) \right), \qquad (3.2)$$

where $p = |\mathbf{p}|$ and *m* is the axion mass. The differential axion flux at Earth, integrating over a standard solar model, is given by

$$\Phi_a^{\text{Primakoff}} = \frac{1}{4\pi d_{ST}^2} \int_{\text{Sun}} d^3 \mathbf{r} \Gamma_{\gamma \to a}^{\text{Primakoff}} \frac{E^2}{\pi^2} f_a^{eq}(E) , \qquad (3.3)$$

where d_{ST} is the Earth-Sun distance, E the axion energy, and $f_a^{eq}(E) = (e^{E/T} - 1)^{-1}$ is the Bose-Einstein axion distribution function. The authors of [16] arrived at the expression for the differential axion flux at Earth:

$$\Phi_a^{\text{Primakoff}} = \left(4.20 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ keV}^{-1}\right) g_{10}^2 \frac{E p^2}{e^{E/1.1} - 0.7} (1 + 0.02m), \qquad (3.4)$$

where $g_{10} = g_{a\gamma\gamma} \times 10^{10} \,\text{GeV}^2$ is the dimensionless coupling to photon, and E, p, and m are given in keV.

3.2 Photon coalescence

Let us review the production of axions from the photon coalescence process $\gamma\gamma \rightarrow a$ in a thermal environment as such of the Sun. We start with the Boltzmann equation for the axion distribution function, f_a , including only production from the inverse decay [44]:

$$\frac{df_a(E)}{dt} = \frac{1}{2E} \int \frac{d^3k_1}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_1} \frac{d^3k_2}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_2} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(k_1 + k_2 - p) |M_\gamma|^2 f_1^{eq}(\omega_1) f_2^{eq}(\omega_2) (1 + f_a(E))(3.5)$$

$$\simeq f_a^{eq}(E) \frac{1}{2E} \int \frac{d^3k_1}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_1} \frac{d^3k_2}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_2} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4(k_1 + k_2 - p) |M_\gamma|^2 (1 + f_1^{eq}(\omega_1) + f_2^{eq}(\omega_2))$$

$$=\Gamma^{\text{Coal.}}_{\gamma\gamma\to a}(T)f^{eq}_a(E)\,,\tag{3.7}$$

where E is the axion energy, p its momentum, and ω_i are the photon energies, with $E = \omega_1 + \omega_2$. In the second line we have used:

$$f_1^{eq}(\omega_1)f_2^{eq}(\omega_2)(1+f_a^{eq}(E)) = f_a^{eq}(E) \cdot (1+f_1^{eq}(\omega_1)+f_2^{eq}(\omega_2)), \qquad (3.8)$$

for the Bose-Einstein distribution functions. Performing the momentum integrals, the thermal inverse decay rate, $\Gamma^{\text{Coal.}}_{\gamma\gamma\to a}(T)$, is given by [44, 45]:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma\gamma\to a}^{\text{Coal.}}(T) = \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} \frac{m^2 - 4\omega_P^2}{m^2} \left(\frac{m}{E}\right) \left(1 + \frac{2T}{p} \ln \frac{1 - e^{-(E+p)/2T}}{1 - e^{-(E-p)/2T}}\right), \quad (3.9)$$

where $\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}$ is the standard axion decay rate into photons at T = 0, and ω_P^2 the photon thermal "mass" that can be expressed as:

$$\omega_P^2 = \frac{4\pi\alpha n_e}{m_e}\,,\tag{3.10}$$

 n_e being the electron number density and m_e its mass. Finally, for the number of axions per unit volume, per unit time, and per unit energy, we make use of dp/dE = E/p to obtain:

$$\frac{dN_a^{\text{Coal.}}}{dE} = \Gamma_{\gamma\gamma\to a}^{\text{Coal.}}(T) \, \frac{pE}{2\pi^2} \, f_a^{eq}(E) \,. \tag{3.11}$$

We will apply approximations for later analytical calculations in order to simplify the expressions, as done in [16]. Neglecting the photon thermal "mass" and the temperature corrections, Eq.(3.9) simplifies into:

$$\Gamma^{\text{Coal.}}_{\gamma\gamma \to a} \simeq \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} \frac{m}{E}.$$
 (3.12)

Integrating over a standard solar model (in this work we use the Saclay solar model [46]), we obtain the differential flux at Earth for axions produced by the coalescence of two photons:

$$\Phi_{a}^{\text{Coal.}} \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi d_{ST}^{2}} \int d^{3}r \frac{dN_{a}^{\text{Coal.}}}{dE} = \frac{R_{\odot}^{3}}{4\pi d_{ST}^{2}} 4\pi \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} \frac{pm}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} d\bar{r} \bar{r}^{2} f_{a}^{eq}(E)$$
(3.13)

$$= \left(7.45 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ keV}^{-1}\right) g_{10}^2 m^4 p \int_0^1 d\bar{r} \bar{r}^2 f_a^{eq}(E) , \qquad (3.14)$$

where g_{10} is the dimensionless coupling described before, and m and p are given in keV. Still, when performing the integral, this expression slightly differs from the one derived by Di Lella *et al.* [16]

$$\Phi_a \simeq \left(1.68 \times 10^9 \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ keV}^{-1}\right) g_{10}^2 m^4 p \left(\frac{10}{0.2 + E^2} + 1 + 6 \times 10^{-4} E^3\right) e^{-E}.$$
 (3.15)



Figure 1. Energy dependency of the coalescence rate. We plot $f_C(E) e^E$ where $f_C(E) = \int_0^1 d\bar{r}\bar{r}^2 f_a^{eq}(E)$. The solid black line is obtained with a Maxwell-Boltzmann distribution, and the solid red line with a Bose-Einstein distribution. The dotted purple line shows the approximation derived in [16].

For comparison, Fig. 1 shows the energy dependency of the coalescence rate in Eq. (3.14) and (3.15). For example, in the energy range of interest, $E \sim \mathcal{O}(1-10)$ keV, the approximations applied by Di Lella *et al.* would overestimate the flux of photons by about 25% after integrating in the case $\delta = 1$.

3.3 Plasmon decay

In the thermal environment of the Sun, the excitations of the electromagnetic field follow non-trivial dispersion relations. These excitations, either longitudinal or transverse, are called "plasmons". The presence of plasmons in the solar interior opens up the possibility of producing KK axions by decay of a transverse plasmon, $\gamma_T \rightarrow \gamma_L + a$, since this process becomes kinematically allowed. In a thermal plasma, transverse and longitudinal photons have different dispersion relations:

$$\omega_T^2 = \omega_P^2 \left(1 + \frac{k_T^2}{\omega_P^2 + k_T^2} \frac{T}{m_e} \right) + k_T^2 \simeq k_T^2 + \omega_P^2 \,, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\omega_L^2 = \omega_P^2 \left(1 + 3 \frac{k_L^2}{\omega_P^2} \frac{T}{m_e} \right) \simeq \omega_P^2, \qquad (3.17)$$

where $k_{T,L}$ are the transverse and longitudinal 3-momenta, and ω_P is the plasma frequency defined previously. In the Sun, $T \leq 1.3$ keV and $T/m_e \leq 0.0025$, so the dispersions relations can be well approximated by the second equality in Eqs. (3.16) and (3.17).

We will compute the rate of production of axions with momentum p and energy E from:

$$\frac{dN_a^{\text{Decay}}}{dE} = \Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}^{\text{Decay}}(T) \frac{pE}{2\pi^2} f_a^{eq}(E) , \qquad (3.18)$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}^{\text{Decay}}(T) = \frac{1}{2E} \int \frac{d^3 k_T}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_T} \frac{d^3 k_L}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_L} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (k_T - k_L - p) |M_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}|^2 (1 + f^{eq}(\omega_T)) ,$$
(3.19)

and the transition amplitude is given by [47]:

$$|M_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}|^2 = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 \frac{|(\mathbf{e}_T \times \mathbf{k}_T) \cdot \mathbf{k}_L|^2}{k_L^2} \frac{\omega_P^4}{k_L^2 + \omega_P^2}, \qquad (3.20)$$

in which \mathbf{e}_T is a polarization vector such that $\mathbf{e}_T \cdot \mathbf{k}_T = 0$.

The details of the derivation of the plasmon decay rate are presented in Appendix A. As it will be discussed in section 4, we are interested in non-relativistic KK axions so we restrict our analysis to the limit $p/k_T \ll 1$, for which we get:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}^{\text{Decay}} \simeq \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{24\pi} \frac{\omega_P^4 k_T}{k_T^2 + \omega_P^2} \left(\frac{p}{E}\right)^2.$$
(3.21)

We now have all the elements to give the expression for the differential flux at Earth for KK non-relativistic axions produced by plasmon decay:

$$\Phi_a^{\text{Decay}} \simeq \left(2.0 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ keV}^{-1}\right) g_{10}^2 \int_0^1 d\bar{r} \bar{r}^2 \frac{\omega_P^4 k_T}{k_T^2 + \omega_P^2} \frac{p^3}{E} f_a^{eq}(E) \,. \tag{3.22}$$

The differential fluxes at Earth for Primakoff, Coalescence and Plasmon decay are shown in Fig. 2, for different values of the axion mass as indicated in the plot. The Primakoff differential rate has been computed with the transition rate in Eq. (3.1), including the thermal photon mass and using the approximation $\kappa \simeq 7T$ [16] for the Debye-Hückel screening scale; for Coalescence we use Eq. (3.14), and that of plasmon decay has been computed with the full thermal decay rate given in Eq. (A.6). We have plotted the fluxes with respect to the axion momentum instead of energy to stress their behavior at low momentum. Primakoff is the main production channel for axions upto $m \sim O(10)$ keV and $p \sim E$. However, it will be suppressed with respect to Coalescence in the limit of small momentum $p \ll E$. Same happens with the plasmon decay channel: in both cases the rate is proportional to p^2 which suppresses the production of non-relativistic KK axions.

We could also consider the production due to the conversion of thermal photons in the presence of the large-scale solar magnetic field [48–50]. However, given the profile of the solar magnetic field, the conversion is mainly efficient near the resonance for $m \sim O(10 - 100)$ eV [50]. Because we are interested in keV axions, this channel for us will be subdominant when compared to coalescence or Primakoff.

4 Gravitationally trapped KK axions

Part of the KK axions produced in the Sun will be sufficiently massive and non-relativistic to be trapped in the solar gravitational field. Those KK axions will start orbiting the Sun



Figure 2. Differential flux at Earth for individual axions versus the axion momentum, for different production channels: black lines for Primakoff, red lines for Coalescence, and green ones for Plasmon decay. We have taken $g_{10} = 10^{-2}$, and different values of the axion mass as indicated in the plot.

and they will accumulate over the Sun history. The large astrophysical times involved in this picture would result in a significant amount of trapped KK axions which overpasses by several orders of magnitude the amount of KK axions instantaneously emitted by the Sun. This scenario of trapped KK axions was first proposed by DiLella and Zioutas [23] to explain some astrophysical issues as the heating of the solar corona, but also as a window for a possible detection of KK axions in a Time Projection Chamber (TPC). Recently, the phenomenological implications of such "stellar basins" of massive particles has been studied in more details yielding to striking consequences on direct and indirect detection [51].

The article from DiLella and Zioutas about trapped KK axions [23] pioneered the domain and its results (obtained by simulations for a given set of parameters) have been used as reference for all searches for KK axions [28, 30, 31]. This article is almost 20 years old and, as far as we know, no additional theoretical work has been conducted about trapped KK axions. This paper aims to cover this issue by deriving analytically some phenomenological quantities and by updating the astrophysical constraints on the model with recent measurements.

4.1 Number density of KK axions

The number density of trapped KK axions as a function of the distance to the Sun represents a crucial quantity for the determination of the event rate in a detector and also for some astrophysical constraints as presented later in Section 5. Since the Primakoff process and the plasmon decay are suppressed for low-momenta, it can be shown [23] that the amount of trapped KK axions is about 3 orders of magnitude larger for the production via the coalescence of two photons than for the other processes. For this reason, we only consider the coalescence of two photons in the following calculations.

The details of the calculations of the number density are presented in Appendix B. The derivation starts by looking at the gravitational potential inside the Sun to determine the trajectories of the trapped KK axions. For instance, we show that in order to reach the Earth, the kinetic energy per unit mass of particles produced at Sun surface must be in the range [0.995363, 0.995374] in units of GM/R_{\odot} . The next step is to integrate the Boltzmann equation over momenta for which the trajectories are bounded at a distance r to the Sun. Finally, we integrate over the KK tower and time, taking into account the potential decay of the axions. We arrive to the following expression for the number density of trapped KK axions:

$$n_{KK}^{(T)}(t,r) = \left(2.2 \times 10^{14} \text{cm}^{-3}\right) g_{10}^2 \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} \int dm \, (Rm)^{\delta} m^5 \, \frac{1 - e^{-t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}}}{t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}} \\ \times \int_0^1 \bar{r}_0^2 d\bar{r}_0 \, \frac{1}{e^{E/T} - 1} \, \frac{m}{E} \, I_v[\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0] \,,$$
(4.1)

where $g_{10} = g_{a\gamma\gamma} \times 10^{10} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$, \bar{r} is the distance to the Sun normalized by the solar radius, m, R^{-1}, T and E are given in keV, and the product $t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}$ must be dimensionless; the second integral must be performed over a solar model. Finally, $I_v[\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0]$ is the integral over velocities (in the plane of the trapped orbit) of the probability density for an axion of energy E to be at radius \bar{r} . In Appendix B we give two expressions for the quantity $I_v[\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0]$ depending on which expression we use for the probability density:

$$I_v^0(\bar{r}_0, \bar{r}) = \frac{1}{2\pi\bar{r}^4} \sqrt{2\left(\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \frac{1}{\bar{r}}\right)},$$
(4.2)

$$I_v^1(\bar{r}_0, \bar{r}) = \int_{\bar{v}_{min}}^{\bar{v}_{max}} d\bar{v}\bar{v}^2 \frac{1}{10\pi^2} \frac{\left(2\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{v}^2\right)^{7/2}}{\left(\bar{v}^2 - 2\left(\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \frac{1}{\bar{r}}\right)\right)^{1/2}},\tag{4.3}$$

in which $\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0)$ is the gravitational potential normalized by its value at Sun surface, and \bar{v} is the velocity normalized by $(GM/R_{\odot})^{1/2}$.

The number density behaves as $1/r^4$ as pointed out in [23]. For $\delta = 2$, $g_{10} = 9.2 \times 10^{-4}$ and $R = 10^3 \text{ keV}^{-1}$ (set of parameters used in [23]) we obtain

$$n_{KK}^{(T)}(t_{\odot}, R_{\odot}) \simeq 0.15 \times 10^{16} \,\mathrm{cm}^{-3}\,,$$
(4.4)

$$n_{KK}^{(T)}(t_{\odot}, 1 \,\text{A.U.}) \simeq 0.79 \times 10^6 \,\text{cm}^{-3},$$
(4.5)

which is about 50 times lower than the number density at Earth obtained in [23]. Possible explanations of such a difference are difficult to point out since very few details are given in the article about how the simulation works. In Figure 3 we show the trapped number density for different choices of parameters, and we have compared the number density of trapped KK axions computed with the different probability densities (solid and dashed lines): there is only a factor of 2 difference.

4.2 Monte Carlo simulation

Since the number density plays a crucial role for phenomenology, we aim to cross-check the analytic calculations with a Monte Carlo (MC) simulation, both approaches using a different philosophy.



Figure 3. Number density of trapped KK axions for model parameters as indicated in the plot versus the radial distance in units of the solar radius. We have taken $R_1 = 2 \times 10^5$, $R_2 = 10^3$, $R_3 = 1$, all given in keV⁻¹. Solid lines are obtained with (4.2), while dashed lines correspond to (4.3). The dotted line indicates the value obtained in [23] for $n_{KK}^{(T)}(t_{\odot}, 1 \text{ A.U.})$ and $\delta = 2$, $g_{10} = 9.2 \times 10^{-4}$.

The backbone of the simulation is to produce a given amount of KK axions in the Sun and to follow the trajectory of each of them by solving the Equations of Motion (EoM). In this way, one knows the position of each KK axion at any time and one can compute the number density at a distance r. The number of KK axions of mass m produced by the Sun evolves in time as:

$$\frac{dN_a(t,m)}{dt} = -\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}(m) N_a(t,m) + P_a(m), \qquad (4.6)$$

where $P_a(m)$ is the solar production rate. It implies that, at present time $t = t_{\odot}$ and summing over the mode multiplicity, one obtains:

$$N_a(\delta, R, g_{10}, t_{\odot}) = \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} R^{\delta} \int_0^\infty dm \, m^{(\delta-1)} \, \frac{P_a(m)}{\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}(m)} \left(1 - e^{-t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}(m)}\right). \tag{4.7}$$

We have already seen that the coalescence mechanism is the main source of trapped axions. The solar axion production, per energy and time unit, through the coalescence process is given by:

$$P_a(m,E) = \frac{g_{10}^2}{32\pi^2} m^4 \sqrt{E^2 - m^2} \int_{Sun} dr \, \frac{r^2}{e^{E/T(r)} - 1} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

in which the integration is over a solar model. In this work we use the Saclay solar model

[46]. The present total number of KK axions susceptible of being trapped is then given by

$$N_a(\delta, R, g_{10}, t_{\odot}) = \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} R^{\delta} \int_0^\infty dm \, \frac{m^{(\delta-1)}}{\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}(m)} \left(1 - e^{-t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}(m)}\right) \\ \times \int_m^\infty dE \, \frac{g_{10}^2}{32\pi^2} m^4 \sqrt{E^2 - m^2} \int_{Sun} dr \, \frac{r^2}{e^{E/T(r)} - 1} \,.$$

$$(4.9)$$

The principle of the MC simulation is to generate n_{MC} KK axions of mass m and energy E, to follow them in their trajectories around the Sun, and to count the proportion that will be located in a 1 cm³ box at distance r to the Sun. Since the solar axion production is isotropic this box can be located at any position in the (ϕ, θ) plane. We then scale n_{MC} according to Eq.(4.9) to get the present number density of KK axions.

The randomness of the MC comes from the choice of the initial conditions in the EoM solver: r_0 is taken randomly in the distribution of Eq.(4.8); θ_0 and ϕ_0 are randomly chosen in a way to construct an isotropic angular distribution; and the duration of the integration, t_{rand} , is taken randomly in a power law distribution such that t_{rand} is large compared to the orbit period.

A comparison between the MC simulation and the analytical derivation is presented in Figure 4. For $r < 40 R_{\odot}$ the two approaches differ by less than 20%. For larger r the statistics of the MC becomes too low and we observe significant statistical fluctuations. This 20% difference is small and is likely due to numerical uncertainties and approximations made in both approaches. The MC simulation agree on the order of magnitude obtained by the analytical derivation and thus it cross-checks the calculations.

Figure 4. Comparison of the numbers density obtained from the MC simulation and from the analytical derivation. We have taken $\delta = 2$, $R = 10^3 \text{ keV}^{-1}$ and $g_{10} = 9.2 \times 10^{-4}$, which are the parameters cited in [23].

The code of the MC simulations is provided on a public repository 1 .

¹https://github.com/BeaufortC/KKaxionDensity

5 Constraining the solar KK axion model

The existence of extra dimensions and of KK axions would alter some astrophysical and cosmological considerations. To be viable, the solar KK axions model must be in agreement with experimental constraints. In this section we review the constraints applying on the model in order to determine the parameter space in which KK axions should be searched for.

5.1 Solar luminosity from KK axion

The first constraint that we will consider is the one that puts the most stringent limits on the solar KK axion model. Paradoxically, it is also the one that brings the most interest in searching for KK axions to possibly explain the non-thermal X-ray emission of the Sun. As explained in Section 4, part of the KK axions gets trapped in the solar gravitational field and accumulates. A KK axion eventually decays into two photons and contributes to the solar luminosity. This solar luminosity due to trapped KK axions should not exceed the observed solar luminosity, requirement that sets constraints on the parameters of the model.

The maximal value for the axion-photon coupling obtained by DiLella and Zioutas using ASCA/SIS X-ray data [23] has been reduced by more than one order of magnitude few years later using measurements of the quiet Sun from RHESSI [52, 53]. While the solar axion luminosity is stable during short time periods, the standard solar luminosity depends on the Sun's activity. For this reason, we must compare our predictions to measurements of quiet Sun when the solar X-ray emissions are not related to flares, sunspots or active regions. In this work, we refer to solar X-rays measurements in the range (1 - 6) keV from the SphinX spectrophotometer [54, 55] during a period of deep solar minimum in 2009 known for its extremely low solar activity.

The SphinX spectrometer is orbiting the Earth and it has a conical field of view (FoV) of 2°. We want to determine the flux of photons coming from KK axion decays that enters the FoV of SphinX. Considering for simplicity that the detector covers a cone of aperture α_0 , we should integrate the number density of trapped KK axions over the solid angle of the detector, $d\Omega_D$, and over a radial distance D from the detector (*i.e.*, the Earth). Here we follow the approach in references [56–59]. In these references, the flux of photons due to decaying dark matter (number of photons per unit time and unit surface) is given by:

$$F_{DM} = \Gamma_{DM} \frac{E_{\gamma}}{m_{DM}} \int_{FoV} \frac{\rho_{DM}(r)}{4\pi |\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{D}} + \mathbf{r}|^2} d^3 \mathbf{r} , \qquad (5.1)$$

where Γ_{DM} is the decay rate into photons, r_D is the distance between the Sun and the Earth. The integral is done within the FoV of the detector. For example, for a small FoV, and DM decaying into two photons with $E_{\gamma} = m_{DM}/2$, one has:

$$F_{DM}[\alpha] \simeq \Gamma_{DM} \frac{\Omega_{fov}}{8\pi} \int \rho_{DM}(r) dz , \qquad (5.2)$$

where the integral is the column integral along the line of sight z, $r = r_D^2 + z^2 - 2r_D z \cos \alpha$, and α is the angle between D and r_D centered on the Earth.

In our case, the number of trapped KK axions within the detector FoV is given by (see Appendix C for the details of the derivation):

$$N_{a}^{T, FoV}(m) = \int_{FoV} d\mathbf{r}^{3} \frac{r^{2}}{4\pi D^{2}} n_{a}^{T}(r, m)$$

$$\simeq \frac{R_{\odot} n_{a}^{T}(R_{\odot}, m)}{2\bar{r}_{D}^{3}} \left(2\bar{r}_{D} - \frac{2}{3\bar{r}_{D}} - \frac{1}{2} (1 - \frac{\alpha_{0} - \pi}{\tan \alpha_{0}}) \right), \qquad (5.3)$$

and the flux of photons due to the decay of trapped KK axions and that enters the FoV of the detector by:

$$\frac{dF}{dE_{\gamma}} = 2\frac{dF}{dm} = 2\frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]}(Rm)^{\delta}m^{-1}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}N_a^{T,FoV}(m).$$
(5.4)

The spectral photon flux in a SphinX-like detector from the decay of trapped KK axions is presented in Figure 5, for $\delta = 1, 2$ and different values of the extra dimension radius². Remaining below the SphinX measurements implies stringent limits on the maximal value of the axion-photon coupling. The set of parameters proposed by DiLella and Zioutas [23] is now ruled out.

Measurements of the X-ray spectrum of the quiet Sun in Figure 5 does not follow an isothermal distribution as expected from the element abundances. Significant deviations from the theoretical spectrum obtained with the CHIANTI database are observed for energies above 2.5 keV [55]. Similar deviations are observed by RHESSI [53]. This could indicate the presence of non-thermal components (for instance via particle acceleration in solar microflares as measured by NuSTAR [60]), but it could also be explained by trapped KK axions as initially proposed by Zioutas *et al.* [24]. In Figure 5, one can see that the predictions of the photon flux from KK axions decay follow similar tendencies than the spectrum measured by SphinX, in particular for the case $\delta = 1$. Measurements of the solar X-rays spectrum do not only constraints the KK axions model, they contribute to motivate it as a promising explanation for the non-thermal behavior of the solar X-rays emission.

Moreover, the decay of trapped KK axions would irradiate the Sun and was proposed [23] as an explanation for the heating of the solar corona. This hypothesis is supported by the abrupt temperature changes in the solar corona that share similar tendencies with the temperature fast increase in the Earth atmosphere under X-rays irradiation from the Sun [61]. Such an explanation of the 80-year old solar corona problem remains plausible and is consistent with simulations of stellar atmosphere irradiation from a hotter X-rays source [62].

5.2 Solar energy loss

KK axions production in the solar core would result in energy loss and would consequently modify the helioseismological sound-speed profiles and the fluxes of neutrinos emitted by the Sun. Helioseismology has implied that the solar axion production would be indistinguishable from standard solar models as long as $L_a^D < 0.2 L_{\odot}$ [63], value that has been used to establish the solar KK axion model [16, 23]. Solar neutrino fluxes have restrained to $L_a^D < 0.1 L_{\odot}$ [64] and a study combining helioseismology and neutrino emissions has set the limit $L_a^D < 0.03 L_{\odot}$ [65]. The solar axion luminosity referred here is the direct luminosity from axions produced inside the Sun, which we distinguish from the trapped axion luminosity thanks to the superscript D (L_a^D).

The direct solar KK axion luminosity have been derived in [16],

$$L_a^D = A L_{\odot} g_{10}^2 \left(\frac{R}{\text{keV}^{-1}}\right)^{\delta},$$
(5.5)

with A = 0.018 for $\delta = 1$, A = 0.19 for $\delta = 2$, and A = 2.1 for $\delta = 3$. We remind that $g_{10} = g_{a\gamma\gamma} \times 10^{10} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$. Using the limit $L_a^D < 0.03 \, L_{\odot}$ we obtain the constraint from solar

²Notice that strictly speaking the curves for $R = 10^{-1} \text{ keV}^{-1}$ should start at E = 5 keV, given that the lightest state in the KK tower would have a mass $m_1 = 10$ keV, but we include the full curves for comparison.

Figure 5. The spectral photon flux from trapped KK axions as observed from Earth and the flux measured by SphinX. The top panel shows the case $\delta = 1$ whereas $\delta = 2$ is presented on the bottom one. Model parameters are indicated in the plots and they have been adjusted to remain below the SphinX measurements. The black dashed line on the bottom panel represents the photon flux obtained using the parameters from [23].

energy loss:

$$g_{10} \left(\frac{R}{\text{keV}^{-1}}\right)^{\delta/2} < \begin{cases} 1.3 & \text{for } \delta = 1, \\ 0.40 & \text{for } \delta = 2, \\ 0.12 & \text{for } \delta = 3. \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

5.3 Extragalactic background light

The last constraint we will revise relies on the Extragalactic Background Light (EBL). Axions would be produced in the early Universe and in astrophysical objects, resulting in a large number of axions all around the Universe. The decay of an axion into two photons would then contribute to the luminosity of the Universe. In particular, measurements of the EBL put stringent limits on Axion-Like Particles (ALP) in the keV-range. One can compute the axion contribution to the EBL by matching the axion density with present observed DM density and taking into account the expansion of the Universe; then, if an axion decays, one must consider the redshift of the photons and the eventual absorption on atoms of the intergalactic medium. In this work, we extend the procedure of [45] to the case of KK axions. We consider the photoionization process on hydrogen and we neglect other processes as the Compton scattering or the pair production on atoms which do not play a role in the energy range considered [66].

We need to compare the EBL measurements with the intensity of the photons flux from the KK axions decay denoted by I_E , multiplied by the energy to recover usual units. It is given by:

$$EI_E = \int_{2E_0}^{\infty} dm \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} R^{\delta} m^{(\delta-1)} \frac{3E_0 \rho(z_0, m)}{4\pi m} x e^{-x} e^{-\kappa_P(E_0)} , \qquad (5.7)$$

where the subindex "0" denotes values today, $x = \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} t_0 (2E_0/m)^{3/2}$, $\rho(z_0, m)$ is the energy density today, and $\kappa_P(E_0)$ is the absorption factor due to photoionization process:

$$\kappa_P(z, E) = \int_0^z \frac{dz'}{H(z')(1+z')} n_H(z') \sigma_P(E) , \qquad (5.8)$$

$$\sigma_P = 4.57 \times 10^{-20} \left(\frac{10 \,\text{keV}}{E}\right)^{7/2} \,\text{cm}^2\,, \tag{5.9}$$

where n_H is the hydrogen number density, σ_P the hydrogen photoionization cross-section, H the Hubble parameter and z the redshift. In Eq.(5.9), we approximate the photoionization cross-section from [67] by a power-law.

The main difference with standard ALPs lies in the superposition of states in the KK tower. To determine the EBL contribution due to KK axions, one must consider how the energy is distributed among the KK modes, which is given by the spectral function $\rho(z_0, m)$. This distribution depends on the production mechanism but also on mode-mixing: when the system starts oscillating, the energy gets redistributed among the whole KK tower. The system starts oscillating during the phase transition at which the axion gets a mass and, following the approach of [68], one can parametrize the time dependent mass like:

$$m(t) = \frac{m}{2} \left(1 + \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\delta_G}} \ln \frac{t}{t_G}\right) \right) \,, \tag{5.10}$$

where m is the late time axion mass, $m(t_G) = m/2$, and δ_G controls how fast the transition takes place. In general, increasing δ_G suppresses the energy density in the KK tower; while

increasing mt_G leads to opposite effect, the energy density tends to be more democratically distributed. The authors of [68] define the parameter:

$$\eta_{KK} = 1 - \max_{\lambda} \frac{\rho_{\lambda}}{\rho} \,, \tag{5.11}$$

where the subindex λ refers to the mass eigenstate, and ρ is the total energy density. Small values of η_{KK} indicate that most of the energy density is stored practically in one mode.

The next step is to determine the mass distribution function $\rho(z_0, m)$. The derivation of this function should follow from integrating the EoM of the coupled systems, but such a detailed study is beyond the scope of this work. Instead, we proceed by making a plausible ansatz for this function by considering a Gaussian of width Δ_K :

$$\rho(z_0, m) = \bar{\rho}_{KK} f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K), \qquad (5.12)$$

$$f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi \Delta_K}} exp(-(\bar{m})^2 / \Delta_K), \qquad (5.13)$$

where $\bar{m} = m/m_1$, $m_1 = 1/R$, and $\bar{\rho}_{KK}$ is a parameter with units of energy density. We choose to normalize the function $f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K)$ to have unit area, such that:

$$\rho_{KK} = \bar{\rho}_{KK} \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} \int_{1}^{\infty} d\bar{m} \bar{m}^{(\delta-1)} f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K) \equiv \bar{\rho}_{KK} I_{\delta}^{\infty}.$$
(5.14)

We still need to relate the value of $\bar{\rho}_{KK}$ with the DM energy density today. Note that within the KK tower most of the modes will have lifetimes smaller than the age of the universe and will not contribute to the present DM energy density. The heaviest stable mode is given by:

$$m_{DM} = \left(\frac{1.327 \times 10^{-4}}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 \tau_u}\right)^{1/3} = \left(1.46 \times 10^{-2} \,\mathrm{keV}\right) \mathrm{g}_{10}^{-2/3}, \qquad (5.15)$$

and the fraction of KK modes that contribute to the DM energy density is:

$$\rho_{KK}^{DM} = \bar{\rho}_{KK} \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} \int_{1}^{\bar{m}_{DM}} d\bar{m} \bar{m}^{(\delta-1)} f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K) \equiv \bar{\rho}_{KK} I_{\delta}^{\bar{m}_{DM}} .$$
(5.16)

Finally, using the present value of the DM energy density, we obtain:

$$EI_E = \left(1.28916 \times 10^9 \text{nW m}^{-2} \text{ str}^{-1}\right) \\ \times \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} g_{10}^2 \frac{\eta_{KK}}{(1 - \eta_{KK})I_{\delta}^{\infty} + \eta_{KK}I_{\delta}^{\bar{m}_{DM}}} \left(\frac{E_0}{m_1}\right)^{5/2} \left(\frac{m_1}{\text{keV}}\right)^3 F_{A\delta} \left\{\frac{E_0}{m_1}, g_{10}, m_1\right\}$$

$$F_{A\delta}\left\{\frac{E_0}{m_1}, g_{10}, m_1\right\} = \int_{\bar{m}_{min}}^{\infty} d\bar{m} f_G(\bar{m}, \Delta_K) \bar{m}^{(\delta - 1/2)} e^{-C_x \bar{m}^{3/2}} e^{-\kappa_P(E_0)}, \qquad (5.17)$$

$$C_x \equiv 92 \times g_{10}^2 \left(\frac{E_0}{m_1}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{m_1}{\text{keV}}\right)^3.$$
(5.18)

Each KK mode cannot contribute to the spectrum with energies E_0 larger than half their mass, and therefore $\bar{m}_{min} = 2E_0/m_1$ when $2E_0 \ge m_1$ and one otherwise.

Figure 6. Top panel: spectral intensity function from the decay of the KK tower for a set of parameters indicated in the plot. Solid lines correspond to $g_{a\gamma\gamma} = 10^{-12} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$ and dashed lines are obtained for $g_{a\gamma\gamma} = 10^{-13} \,\text{GeV}^{-1}$. The purple dotted line EI_E^{max} corresponds to the experimental limit given by Eq.(5.19). Bottom panel: maximum allowed value of η_{KK} in order to have $EI_E \leq EI_E^{\text{max}}$.

We are now ready to compare the expected light from KK axions decay to the EBL measurements. We approximately parametrize the upper limit of EBL published in [69] and [70] by the formula:

$$EI_E^{max} \simeq 0.20412 \times \lambda [\mathring{A}]^{0.47317} \,\mathrm{nW} \,\mathrm{m}^{-2} \,\mathrm{str}^{-1}$$
 (5.19)

In Figure 6 are presented the EBL predictions from our model for several sets of parameters (top panel) and $\delta = 2$ as an example. On the bottom panel we have plotted the maximum allowed value for η_{KK} to guaranty that the contribution remains below the observational constraint as a function of the compactification radius R. In general, the smaller the width of the Gaussian, the easier to fulfil the EBL constraint since the energy density left in the tower diminishes. However, this trend is reverse when increasing $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ (and therefore their decay rate into photons) and $R \leq 1 \text{ keV}^{-1}$, as shown on the bottom panel in Figure 6. Nevertheless, while the EBL puts stringent limits in the case of standard ALPs in the energy range considered [45], KK axions can easily escape this constraint, depending on how the energy is distributed among the KK tower.

The revision and the update of the constraints that apply on the solar KK axion model, as detailed in this section, brings us to the determination of possible sets of parameters. Some of them are proposed in Table 2. For instance, we see that the case $\delta = 1$, $R = 10^3$ keV, and $g_{10} = 9.8 \times 10^{-4}$ fulfils the constraints and enables to have the fundamental gravitational scale, M_* , as well as the overall scale of the PQ symmetry breaking, \bar{f}_{PQ} , near the electroweak scale.

(δ,n)	$R \; [\mathrm{keV}^{-1}]$	g_{10}	η_{KK}	Δ_K	M_* [TeV]	f_{PQ} [GeV]	\bar{f}_{PQ} [GeV]
(1, 2)	$5 imes 10^{-1}$	$7.3 imes 10^{-3}$	$8 imes 10^{-6}$	1	2.0×10^3	1.6×10^9	$6.4 imes 10^2$
(1,2)	10^{3}	9.8×10^{-4}	—	_	4.4×10^{1}	1.2×10^{10}	7.1×10^2
(2,2)	5×10^{-1}	3.2×10^{-3}	3×10^{-5}	1	2.0×10^3	3.6×10^9	5.9×10^{-4}
(2,3)	$5 imes 10^{-1}$	3.2×10^{-3}	3×10^{-5}	1	5.4	3.6×10^9	2.1×10^{-1}
(3,3)	5×10^{-1}	1.7×10^{-3}	10^{-4}	1	5.4	6.8×10^9	3.1×10^{-6}

 Table 2. Possible sets of parameters allowed experimentally and the corresponding quantities defined in Section 2.

6 Experimental searches for KK axion

Searching for standard axion represents a considerable challenge due to its feeble coupling to the particles of the Standard Model. As already stressed out, the situation changes drastically when considering large extra dimensions in which the axion can propagate. In this framework, the large multiplicity of the KK modes and their masses in the keV-range open a window for original detection strategies. This new point of view on the phenomenology could lead to a shift in the way of searching for axion, and the KK axion could be used as a probe for extra dimensions.

6.1 Event rate of the KK axion decay in a detector on Earth

The first approach proposed to search for KK axions was the decay channel, $a \to \gamma \gamma$, since the decay could happen in a detector on Earth, the event rate depending not on the type of detector but only on its volume. The signature of the decay of a KK axion is the emission of two photons back-to-back, each of them carrying the same energy $E_{\gamma} = m/2$ since the gravitationally trapped axions are non-relativistic. In a Time Projection Chamber (TPC) with a 3D track reconstruction, as the MIMAC detector [71] for instance, such a signature is almost unique, so it would lead to a very efficient background discrimination. Searching for KK axions via the detection of the photons emitted by the decay has been proposed in [16, 27–29] and was used to set experimental constraints on solar KK axions [30, 31].

The differential decay rate of trapped KK axions into photons is given by:

$$\frac{dR}{dm} = \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} \frac{dn_{KK}^{(T)}}{dm} = \left(6.51 \times 10^{-12} \,\mathrm{day}^{-1}\right) g_{10}^2 \left(\frac{m}{\mathrm{keV}}\right)^3 \frac{dn_{KK}^{(T)}}{dm}, \qquad (6.1)$$

and is represented in Figure 7. The KK axion mass ranges from roughly (1 - 30) keV with an expected peak at $m = 2E_{\gamma} \simeq O(10)$ for each set of parameters.

Figure 7. Differential decay rate of trapped KK axions into photons in a detector on Earth for the sets of parameters given in Table 2.

Integrating Eq.(6.1) over the mass range we finally obtain the even rate. For the set of parameters in Table 2 and Figure 7, the event rate in a detector on Earth gives $R \simeq 3 \times 10^{-7} \text{ day}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-3}$. The revision of the number density and the updated constraints from solar measurements have strongly reduced the event rate of $R \simeq 0.21 \text{ day}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-3}$ that was obtained from the DiLella and Zioutas model [28].

This event rate forces to have a huge TPC-active volume requiring many observables to cope with the huge volume background. The high rejection power needed could be foreseen built on an upgraded MIMAC-type micro-TPC with 3D track reconstruction at few keV energies [72, 73].

A last comment about other axion production channels. So far we have restricted our study to hadronic axion models, even though considering a non-zero axion-electron coupling, g_{ae} , offers additional mechanisms to produce KK axions in the Sun at a lower mass. The solar photon flux due to the electron-axion coupling will be proportional to $g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 g_{ae}^2$, while that due to coalescence is proportional to $g_{a\gamma\gamma}^4$. And the same coupling dependence holds for the detection rate. So let us call F_{SphinX} the measured solar photon flux, and $F^{\gamma} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^4 \bar{F}^{\gamma}$ and $F^e = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 g_{ae}^2 \bar{F}^e$ the flux due to coalescence and axion-electron production respectively, such that:

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2(g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2\bar{F}^\gamma + g_{ae}^2\bar{F}^e) \le F_{\rm SphinX} \,. \tag{6.2}$$

Similarly denoting by $R_{\gamma,e}$ the event rate from axion-photon or axion-electron coupling respectively, and using the "bar" notation to normalize quantities from values at unit coupling, one can then show that:

$$R = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 (g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 \bar{R}_{\gamma} + g_{ae}^2 \bar{R}_e) = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^4 \bar{R}_{\gamma} + (\frac{F_{\text{SphinX}}}{\bar{F}^e} - g_{a\gamma\gamma}^4 \frac{F^{\gamma}}{\bar{F}^e}) \bar{R}_e.$$
(6.3)

Eq.(6.3) tells us that considering the axion-electron coupling to produce KK axions via other processes in the Sun would only have minor influence on the constraint on $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ imposed by measurements of the solar X-rays spectrum. In other words, any detector searching for KK axions via the coupling to photons will be limited by the constraint on $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ from solar luminosity regardless of the production mechanisms.

6.2 Other strategies of detection

A promising approach to search for axions lies on the use of a magnetic field to convert an axion into a photon via the reverse Primakoff process. Such a detection strategy can be adapted to the case of KK axions. The CERN Axion Solar Telescope (CAST) has already set limits on KK axions in the frame of two additional dimensions [25, 26]. Since axion helioscopes are improving their sensitivities, dedicated searches for KK axions via the reverse Primakoff process could give interesting results. In a similar way, the experiments of "light shining through a wall" use the Primakoff effect in the aim of detecting the photon regeneration process $\gamma \rightarrow a \rightarrow \gamma$. Adapting the design of such experiments to the framework of large extra dimensions could open a detection channel for KK axions.

The search for KK axions can also be performed via indirect processes. In Section 5, we have shown examples of how the phenomenology of the Sun or of the Extragalactic Background Light could be affected by the possible existence of KK axions. Burst of axions are expected in supernovae leading to a photon flux after axion decay or after axion-photon conversion. Oscillations between axions and photons are also expected, which would modify the photon fluxes from distant sources. Revisiting X-rays and γ -rays measurements in the framework of KK axions instead of standard ALP could lead to interesting results. We have shown that the trapped KK axions density evolves as $1/r^4$, with r the distance to the Sun. Measurements of the solar photon flux at multiple distances to the Sun could reveal this $1/r^4$ behavior. For instance, the STIX telescope [74] placed on Solar Orbiter will soon measure hard X-rays at distances to the Sun down to 0.22 A.U..

Finally, we have restrained our work to hadronic axion models in which the axions do not couple to fermions at tree level. Our study could be later extended by considering the axion-electron coupling, g_{ae} , that offers additional production mechanisms in the Sun [75] as well as other channels for detection. The main projects of dark matter direct detection have started to search for standard ALP since, for a non-zero axion-electron coupling, axions could

induce events of the electron-recoils class [76, 77]. Next generation of axion helioscopes, as the IAXO [78] for instance, could also improve their sensibility if axions couple to electrons. Once again, the existence of large extra dimensions would alter the phenomenology of the axions, and detection of KK axions via the axion-electron coupling appears as conceivable.

7 Conclusion

The scenario of axions propagating in large extra dimensions addresses several theoretical issues – as the hierarchy problem, the strong CP problem, or the nature of dark matter – while offering a new scenario for explaining astrophysical observations. In this work we have entirely revised the solar KK axion model in which the particles are trapped in the gravitational field of the Sun. We here corroborate some results of the paper that pioneered the model [23]: (1) the number density of trapped KK axions evolves as $1/r^4$; (2) photon coalescence is the dominant production mechanism of trapped KK axions in the Sun; (3) the decay event rate $a \to \gamma \gamma$ in a detector on Earth is mainly constrained from measurements of the solar luminosity.

The revision proposed in this paper aimed to provide analytical expressions of phenomenologically interesting quantities relevant for experimental searches of KK axions, and mainly to update the constraints with recent measurements. We have computed the fluxes of KK axions produced in the Sun via the dominant processes in the case of hadronic models in which axions do not couple to fermions at tree level. The derivation of the number density of trapped KK axions represents the central element of the model. We obtain a density lowered by $\sim \mathcal{O}(50)$ compared with the previous estimation and we have cross-checked our result by an independent MC code provided on a public repository.

The properties of ALP in the keV-range are usually constrained by the measurement of the Extragalactic Background Light. However, depending on how the energy is distributed among the KK tower, the KK axions can escape this cosmological bound. The most stringent constraint on the model comes from the X-rays measurements of the quiet Sun. This limit on the decay event rate in a detector cannot be avoided: the amount of KK axions decaying on Earth is correlated to the amount of KK axions that decay in between the Earth and the Sun and which contribute to the observed solar luminosity. We show that any strategy of detection making use of the axion-photon coupling, $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$, will experience this astrophysical bound, even when considering production mechanisms via the axion-electron coupling. We derive a decay event rate of about $3 \times 10^{-7} \cdot \text{day}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-3}$ which lies 6 orders of magnitude below previous estimations [23, 28], with major consequences on current experiments searching for KK axions via this channel.

The X-rays measurements of the quiet Sun strongly limit the decay event rate in a detector though they also bring additional motivation for searching for KK axions. We have shown that the non-thermal component of the X-rays distribution could possibly be explained by the decay of trapped KK axions. This appealing hypothesis should be further investigated, for instance by studying the physics of KK axions during solar microflares or by upgrading our analysis with upcoming STIX measurements at 0.22 A.U.. Further work could also extend the study of KK axions to non-hadronic models that offer additional production mechanisms in the Sun [75] and open other channels for detection. The axion-electron coupling could play an interesting role in solar microflares.

Searches for KK axions via the decay in a detector on Earth appears as very challenging for present TPCs. However, complementary strategies of detection, from direct or indirect approaches, could be used in the near future to search for KK axions. The framework of large extra dimensions offers new possibilities for the physics of the axion. Current experiments searching for ALP could be revisited and extended to this scenario. The axion could then be used as a probe for extra dimensions.

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Barbara and Janusz Sylwester who kindly shared with us the SphinX measurements of solar X-rays and who answered with details our questions about the working principles of the SphinX detector. MBG would like to thank the LPSC (UGA, CNRS, Grenoble INP) for kind hospitality. The work of MBG has been partially supported by MICINN (PID2019-105943GB-I00/AEI/10.13039/501100011033) and "Junta de Andalucía" grants P18-FR-4314 and A-FQM-211-UGR18.

A Plasmon decay rate

To compute the rate of KK axion production from the plasmon decay $\gamma_T \rightarrow a + \gamma_L$ we need the thermal decay rate:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}(T) = \frac{1}{2E} \int \frac{d^3 k_T}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_T} \frac{d^3 k_L}{(2\pi)^3 2\omega_L} (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (k_T - k_L - p) \left| M_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L} \right|^2 (1 + f^{eq}(\omega_T)),$$
(A.1)

where [47]:

$$\left|M_{\gamma_{T}\to a\gamma_{L}}\right|^{2} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^{2} \frac{\left|(\mathbf{e}_{T}\times\mathbf{k}_{T})\cdot\mathbf{k}_{L}\right|^{2}}{k_{L}^{2}} \frac{\omega_{P}^{2}}{k_{L}^{2}+\omega_{P}^{2}} \omega_{L}^{2} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^{2} \frac{|\mathbf{k}_{T}\times\mathbf{k}_{L}|^{2}}{2k_{L}^{2}} \frac{\omega_{P}^{2}}{k_{L}^{2}+\omega_{P}^{2}} \omega_{L}^{2}, \quad (A.2)$$

and $\delta^4(k_T - k_L - p) = \delta^3(\mathbf{k}_T - \mathbf{k}_L - \mathbf{p})\delta(\omega_T - \omega_L - E)$ enforced energy and momentum conservation:

$$E = \omega_T - \omega_L \,, \tag{A.3}$$

$$\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{k}_T - \mathbf{k}_L, \qquad (A.4)$$

$$k_L^2 = k_T^2 + p^2 - 2k_T p \cos \theta_T \,. \tag{A.5}$$

Neglecting the thermal correction for the time being (*i.e.*, taking $f^{eq}(\omega_T) \ll 1$), we have:

$$2E\Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L}(T) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \cdot \frac{1}{4\omega_L\omega_T} \int d^3k_T \delta(\omega_T - \omega_L - E) \left| M_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L} \right|^2$$
$$= \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{2\pi^2} \cdot \frac{\omega_L^2}{4\omega_L\omega_T} \int d\Omega_T \frac{k_T^2}{|dW/dk_T|} \cdot \frac{\omega_P^2}{k_L^2 + \omega_P^2} \cdot \frac{k_T^2 p^2 (1 - \cos^2 \theta_T)}{k_L^2}$$
$$= \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{32\pi} \cdot \frac{\omega_L^2 \omega_P^2 k_T^2}{\omega_T p} \int d\cos \theta_T \frac{1 - \cos \theta_T^2}{(A - \cos \theta_T)(B - \cos \theta_T)(C - \cos \theta_T)} \,(A.6)$$

where in the second line we have:

$$W = \omega_T - \omega_L - E, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\frac{dW}{dk_T} = \frac{k_T}{\omega_T} - \frac{k_L}{\omega_L} \frac{dk_L}{dk_T} = \frac{p}{\omega_L} \left(\frac{E}{\omega_T} \cdot \frac{k_T}{p} - \cos \theta_T \right) , \qquad (A.8)$$

and in the last line in (A.6) we have defined:

$$A = \frac{E}{\omega_T} \cdot \frac{k_T}{p}, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$B = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{k_T}{p} + \frac{p}{k_T} \right),$$
 (A.10)

$$C = B + \frac{\omega_P^2}{2k_T p}.$$
 (A.11)

For slow-moving axions, in the limit $p/k_T \ll 1$ we have:

$$2E\Gamma_{\gamma_T \to a\gamma_L} \simeq \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{16\pi} \frac{\omega_P^2 \omega_L^2 p^2}{k_T E} \cdot \frac{k_T^2}{k_T^2 + \omega_P^2} \int \int d\cos\theta_T (1 - \cos\theta_T^2) \simeq \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{12\pi} \frac{\omega_P^2 \omega_L^2 p^2}{k_T E} \cdot \frac{k_T^2}{k_T^2 + \omega_P^2}, \tag{A.12}$$

and therefore in this limit:

$$\frac{dN_a}{dE} \simeq \frac{f_a^{eq}(E)}{2\pi^2} \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{24\pi} \frac{\omega_P^4 k_T}{k_T^2 + \omega_P^2} \cdot \frac{p^3}{E} , \qquad (A.13)$$

where we have replaced $\omega_L^2 \simeq \omega_P^2$.

B Derivation of the number density

We start by deriving the gravitational potential inside the Sun from the Poisson equation:

$$\Phi_{G}(r < R_{\odot}) = -4\pi G \left(\frac{1}{r} \int_{0}^{r} r'^{2} \rho(r') dr' + \int_{r}^{R} r' \rho(r') dr'\right)$$

$$= -\frac{GM}{R_{\odot}} \left(1 + \int_{\bar{r}}^{1} \frac{\bar{M}}{\bar{r}^{2}}\right) d\bar{r} = -\frac{GM}{R_{\odot}} \bar{\Phi}_{G}(\bar{r}), \qquad (B.1)$$

where in the second line "bar" quantities are normalized by their Sun value. Bounded trajectories follow from the condition $v_r = \dot{r} = 0$, which can be written as:

$$v_{r,0}^2 + r_0^2 \dot{\phi}_0^2 (1 - \bar{r}_0^2 \bar{u}_r^2) = \frac{2GM}{R_\odot} (\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{u}_r) , \qquad (B.2)$$

where the subindex "0" refers to the initial condition for radius and velocities inside the Sun, and $\bar{u}_r = R_{\odot}/r$. In terms of the initial kinetic energy per unit mass, $\bar{E}_K = (v_{r,0}^2 + r_0^2 \dot{\phi}_0^2)/2$, and using $a^2 = v_{r,0}^2/(2\bar{E}_K)$, we have:

$$\bar{E}_K(\bar{r}_0) = \frac{GM}{R_\odot} \cdot \frac{\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{u}_r}{1 - \bar{r}_0^2 (1 - a^2) \bar{u}_r^2 / 2}.$$
(B.3)

Bounded orbits at a radial distance r are obtained for particles produced inside the Sun with kinetic energy in the range (E_K^{min}, E_K^{max}) depending on the initial angular momentum. To reach the Earth, for particles produced at the Sun surface, their kinetic energy must be in the range [0.995363, 0.995374] in units of $GM/R_{\odot} = 2v_{esc}^2$; for those produced at half the Sun radius we have instead $E_K \in [1.952736, 1.95274]$.

In order to get the number density of trapped KK axions, we start again with the Boltzmann equation for axions produced inside the Sun due to photon coalescence. We neglect the other production processes since they are suppressed for low momenta (*c.f.* Section 3):

$$\frac{dn_a}{dt} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int d^3 p \Gamma_{a\gamma} f_a^{eq}(E) , \qquad (B.4)$$

where for the rate of production we use the simplification of Eq.(3.12):

$$\Gamma_{a\gamma} \simeq \Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma} \frac{m}{E}.$$
 (B.5)

Restricting the momentum integral to those values which give bounded orbits at a distance r we obtain the number density of trapped KK axions. They will have small velocities and behave as non-relativistic particles, and therefore:

$$d^{3}p = dp_{x}dp_{y}dp_{z} \simeq m^{3}v^{2}dvd\phi d\cos\theta.$$
(B.6)

Due to isotropy, we can perform the integral along θ and work in the XY plane:

$$d^{3}p = 2m^{3}v^{2}dvd\phi = 2m^{3}\frac{v^{2}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - v_{\phi}^{2}}}dvdv_{\phi}.$$
 (B.7)

We can now perform the integral in velocities with the constraint for bounded trajectories Eq.(B.2), which gives the required velocity at production at a radius r_0 inside the Sun to get to a distance r from the center of the Sun. Integrating over the solar volume we finally obtain the number density of trapped KK axions $n_a^{(T)}$ per unit time:

$$\frac{dn_a^{(T)}}{dt} = \frac{m^3}{(2\pi)^3} 4\pi R_{\odot}^3 \int_0^1 \bar{r}_0^2 d\bar{r}_0 \int_0^\infty dv \int_0^v dv_\phi \frac{4v^2}{\sqrt{v^2 - v_\phi^2}} \cdot N_\delta \,\delta(f_T(v, v_\phi)) \cdot \Gamma_{a\gamma}(T) f_a^{eq}(E) \,, \tag{B.8}$$

where

$$f_T(v, v_{\phi}) = v_r^2 + v_{\phi}^2 (1 - \bar{r}_0^2 \bar{u}_r^2) - \frac{2GM}{R_{\odot}} (\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{u}_r) \,. \tag{B.9}$$

The function $N_{\delta}\delta(f_T)$ is the probability density for a particle of energy $E(v, v_{\phi})$ to be at radius r, such that

$$\int d^3 r N_\delta \delta(f_T) = 1.$$
(B.10)

Let us consider for the time being only radial trajectories to simplify the analyses, *i.e.*, $v_{\phi} = 0$. The constraint Eq.(B.2) simplifies and the maximum radial distance of the bounded trajectory is given by:

$$\bar{r}_B = \frac{2}{2\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{v}^2},$$
(B.11)

where $\bar{v}^2 = v^2/(GM/R_{\odot})$, $\bar{r}_B = r_B/R_{\odot}$, and the normalization constant of the probability density is:

$$N_{\delta} = \frac{1}{32\pi R_{\odot}^3} (2\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{v}^2)^4 \,. \tag{B.12}$$

We can now perform the integral over velocities to get the number of trapped axions:

$$I_{v}(\bar{r}_{0},\bar{r}) = R_{\odot}^{3} \left(\frac{GM}{R_{\odot}}\right)^{3/2} \int_{\bar{v}_{min}}^{\bar{v}_{max}} d\bar{v}\bar{v}^{2}N_{\delta}\delta(f_{T}) = \frac{1}{2\pi\bar{r}^{4}}\sqrt{B(\bar{r},\bar{r}_{0})}, \qquad (B.13)$$

where we have defined:

$$B(\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0) = 2(\bar{\Phi}_G(r_0) - \bar{u}_r).$$
(B.14)

The number density per unit time of trapped KKaxions is then:

$$\frac{dn_a^{(T)}}{dt} = \frac{m^3}{4\pi^3 \bar{r}^4} \int_0^1 \bar{r}_0^2 d\bar{r}_0 \sqrt{B(\bar{r},\bar{r}_0)} \cdot \Gamma_{a\gamma}(T) \cdot f_a^{eq}(E) , \qquad (B.15)$$

where $E \simeq m \left(1 + \frac{GM}{2R_{\odot}} \sqrt{B(\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0)}\right)$. This gives the $1/r^4$ behavior as in [23].

Following [51], the probability density is inversely proportional to the radial velocity, so instead of a delta function to implement the constraint of bounded trajectories, one must use:

$$P(\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0) = \frac{N_P}{\sqrt{\bar{v}^2 - B(\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0)}},$$
(B.16)

where again imposing:

$$4\pi R_{\odot}^3 \int d\bar{r}\bar{r}^2 P(\bar{r},\bar{r}_0) = 1, \qquad (B.17)$$

one gets:

$$R_{\odot}^{3} N_{P} = \frac{1}{10\pi^{2}} (2\bar{\Phi}_{G}(\bar{r}_{0}) - \bar{v}^{2})^{7/2} \,. \tag{B.18}$$

Because trapped axions are non-relativistic, one can approximate $E \simeq m$, and as before perform the velocity integral:

$$I_v(\bar{r}_0, \bar{r}) = \int_{\bar{v}_{min}}^{\bar{v}_{max}} d\bar{v} \bar{v}^2 \frac{1}{10\pi^2} \frac{(2\bar{\Phi}_G(\bar{r}_0) - \bar{v}^2)^{7/2}}{(\bar{v}^2 - B(\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0))^{1/2}},$$
(B.19)

which can be done numerically and again gives the $1/r^4$ behavior for the trapped axions.

The last step is to sum over the KK-tower, and integrate over time with the decay term from the Boltzmann equation. For a KK tower of massive axions, the lifetime of some modes can be smaller than the Sun age, so one must include production and decay at the same time in the Boltzmann equation. Taking this into account and summing over the tower of KK axions, we obtain for the number density of trapped axions³:

$$n_{KK}^{(T)} \simeq \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \cdot \left(\frac{GM}{R_{\odot}}\right)^{3/2} \cdot \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} R^{\delta} \cdot \frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2}{64\pi} \int dm \frac{m^{(\delta+5)}}{\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}} (1 - e^{-t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}}) \times \int_0^1 \bar{r}_0^2 d\bar{r}_0 \cdot f_a^{eq}(m) \frac{m}{E} I_v[\bar{r}, \bar{r}_0], \qquad (B.20)$$

where the function I_v is given either by Eq.(B.13) or Eq.(B.19) depending on the probability density considered.

³To recover the number density of axions in cm⁻³, we recall that GM/R_{\odot} is $GM/R_{\odot}/c^2 = 2.11119 \times 10^{-6}$, and with all other quantities in units of energy, *i.e.* keV, we get n_a in units of keV³. Dividing by $(\hbar c)^3$ we convert to cm⁻³.

Finally, collecting all factors:

$$n_{KK}^{(T)}(t,r) \simeq 2.2 \times 10^{14} \text{cm}^{-3} \cdot g_{10}^2 \cdot I[\bar{r},\delta],$$
 (B.21)

where $g_{10} = g_{a\gamma\gamma} \times 10^{10} \text{ GeV}^{-1}$, and the integral is given by⁴:

$$I[\bar{r},\delta] = \frac{2\pi^{\delta/2}}{\Gamma[\delta/2]} \int dm (Rm)^{\delta} m^5 \cdot \frac{1 - e^{-t_{\odot}\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}}}{\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}t_{\odot}} \times \int_0^1 \bar{r}_0^2 d\bar{r}_0 \cdot f_a^{eq}(m) \frac{m}{E} \cdot I_v[\bar{r},\bar{r}_0], \quad (B.22)$$

where m the axion mass, R^{-1} , T and E are given in keV.

C KK axions within the FoV of SphinX

Given the number density of trapped KK axions:

$$n_a^T(r,m) \simeq \frac{n_a^T(R_{\odot},m)}{\bar{r}^4}, \qquad (C.1)$$

the number of trapped KK axions within the detector FoV is given by:

$$N_{a}^{T}(m) = \int_{FoV} d\mathbf{r}^{3} \frac{r^{2}}{4\pi D^{2}} n_{a}^{T}(r,m) = \frac{2\pi}{4\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} dD \int_{\cos\alpha_{0}}^{1} d\cos\alpha \ n_{a}^{T}(r,m)$$
$$\simeq \frac{R_{\odot} n_{a}^{T}(R_{\odot},m)}{2\bar{r}_{D}^{3}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \int_{y_{0}}^{1} dy \frac{1}{(x^{2}+1-2xy)^{2}}, \qquad (C.2)$$

where we perform the integral from the "Earth" reference system with $y = \cos \alpha$, $x = \bar{D}/\bar{r}_D$, and consider the Sun as a point source. However, we have to subtract the Sun contribution when $\bar{r} < 1$; *i.e.*, we have to take the limits of integration such that:

$$x^2 - 2xy + 1 > \frac{1}{\bar{r}_D^2} \,. \tag{C.3}$$

The roots of this equation are given by:

$$x_{\pm}(y) = y \pm \sqrt{y^2 - \Delta^2},$$
 (C.4)

where $\Delta^2 = 1 - 1/\bar{r}_D^2$, $x_{\pm}(1) = 1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \Delta^2}$ and $x_{\pm}(\Delta) = \Delta$. Therefore, we have now the integral:

$$I^{E} = \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \int_{y_{0}}^{1} dy \frac{1}{(x^{2} + 1 - 2xy)^{2}} - \int_{\Delta}^{1} dy \int_{x_{-}}^{x_{+}} dx \frac{1}{(x^{2} + 1 - 2xy)^{2}} = I^{E}_{All} - I^{E}_{Sun}.$$
 (C.5)

Doing first the integral in "x", we have:

$$I_{All}^{E}[y] = \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \frac{1}{(x^{2} + 1 - 2xy)^{2}}$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\pi/2}{(1 - y^{2})^{3/2}} + \frac{y}{1 - y^{2}} + \frac{1}{(1 - y^{2})^{3/2}} \arctan \frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} \right),$ (C.6)

⁴When doing the integral, $\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}t_{\odot}$ is dimensionless, i.e., if t_{\odot} is given in s then $\Gamma_{a\gamma\gamma}$ is given in s^{-1} .

and therefore:

$$I_{All}^{E} = \int_{y_{0}}^{1} dy I_{All}^{E}[y] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} \cdot \frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} \cdot \arctan \frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} \right)_{y_{0}}^{1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\liminf_{\alpha \to 0} \frac{\pi}{\tan \alpha} - \frac{\pi}{\tan \alpha_{0}} - 1 + \frac{\alpha_{0}}{\tan \alpha_{0}} \right).$$
(C.7)

Similarly, for the Sun contribution we have:

$$I_{Sun}^{E}[y] = \int_{r_{+}}^{r_{-}} dx \frac{1}{(x^{2} + 1 - 2xy)^{2}} = \frac{\sqrt{y^{2} - \Delta^{2}}}{(1 - \Delta^{2})(1 - y^{2})} + \frac{1}{(1 - y^{2})^{3/2}} \arctan \frac{\sqrt{y^{2} - \Delta^{2}}}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} C.8)$$

$$I_{Sun}^{E} = \int_{\Delta}^{1} dy I_{Sun}^{E}[y] = \left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} \arctan \frac{\sqrt{y^{2} - \Delta^{2}}}{\sqrt{1 - y^{2}}} - \frac{\Delta^{2}}{1 - \Delta^{2}} \ln(y + \sqrt{y^{2} - \Delta^{2}})\right)_{\Delta}^{1}$$

$$= \liminf_{\alpha \to 0} \frac{\pi/2}{\tan \alpha} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \Delta^{2}}} - \frac{\Delta^{2}}{1 - \Delta^{2}} \ln \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - \Delta^{2}}}{\Delta}. \quad (C.9)$$

The divergence at the Sun center (when $\alpha \to 0$) cancels out, and finally we get:

$$N_{a}^{T}(m) = \frac{R_{\odot}n_{a}^{T}(R_{v},m)}{2\bar{r}_{D}^{3}} \left(\bar{r}_{D} + (\bar{r}_{D}^{2} - 1)\ln\frac{1 + \bar{r}_{D}}{\sqrt{\bar{r}_{D}^{2} - 1}} - (1 - \frac{(\alpha_{0} - \pi)}{\tan\alpha_{0}})\right)$$
$$\underset{\bar{r}_{D} \gg 1}{\simeq} \frac{R_{\odot}n_{a}^{T}(R_{\odot},m)}{2\bar{r}_{D}^{3}} \left(2\bar{r}_{D} - \frac{2}{3\bar{r}_{D}} - \frac{1}{2}(1 - \frac{\alpha_{0} - \pi}{\tan\alpha_{0}})\right).$$
(C.10)

References

- N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos and G. Dvali, The Hierarchy problem and new dimensions at a millimeter, Phys. Lett. B 429 (1998) 263 [hep-ph/9803315].
- [2] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos and G. Dvali, Phenomenology, astrophysics and cosmology of theories with submillimeter dimensions and TeV scale quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 086004 [hep-ph/9807344].
- [3] E. Witten, Strong coupling expansion of Calabi-Yau compactification, Nucl. Phys. B 471 (1996) 135 [hep-th/9602070].
- [4] J.D. Lykken, Weak scale superstrings, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 3693 [hep-th/9603133].
- [5] I. Antoniadis, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos and G. Dvali, New dimensions at a millimeter to a Fermi and superstrings at a TeV, Phys. Lett. B 436 (1998) 257 [hep-ph/9804398].
- [6] K.R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Extra space-time dimensions and unification, Phys. Lett. B 436 (1998) 55 [hep-ph/9803466].
- [7] D. Dumitru and S. Nandi, Gauge coupling unification with large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 046006 [hep-ph/9906514].
- [8] G. Dvali and S. Tye, Brane inflation, Phys. Lett. B 450 (1999) 72 [hep-ph/9812483].
- [9] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, N. Kaloper and J. March-Russell, Rapid asymmetric inflation and early cosmology in theories with submillimeter dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 567 (2000) 189 [hep-ph/9903224].

- [10] G. Dvali and G. Gabadadze, Nonconservation of global charges in the brane universe and baryogenesis, Phys. Lett. B 460 (1999) 47 [hep-ph/9904221].
- [11] N. Arkani-Hamed and M. Schmaltz, *Hierarchies without symmetries from extra dimensions*, *Phys. Rev. D* 61 (2000) 033005 [hep-ph/9903417].
- [12] K.R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Neutrino oscillations without neutrino masses or heavy mass scales: A Higher dimensional seesaw mechanism, Nucl. Phys. B 557 (1999) 25 [hep-ph/9811428].
- [13] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, G. Dvali and J. March-Russell, Neutrino masses from large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2001) 024032 [hep-ph/9811448].
- [14] S. Chang, S. Tazawa and M. Yamaguchi, Axion model in extra dimensions with TeV scale gravity, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 084005 [hep-ph/9908515].
- [15] K.R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Invisible axions and large radius compactifications, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 105023 [hep-ph/9912455].
- [16] L. Di Lella, A. Pilaftsis, G. Raffelt and K. Zioutas, Search for solar Kaluza-Klein axions in theories of low scale quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 125011 [hep-ph/0006327].
- [17] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, Cp conservation in the presence of pseudoparticles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440.
- [18] S. Weinberg, A new light boson?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223.
- [19] F. Wilczek, Problem of strong p and t invariance in the presence of instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279.
- [20] J. Preskill, M.B. Wise and F. Wilczek, Cosmology of the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 127.
- [21] L.F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, A Cosmological Bound on the Invisible Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 133.
- [22] M. Dine and W. Fischler, The Not So Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137.
- [23] L. DiLella and K. Zioutas, Observational evidence for gravitationally trapped massive axion(-like) particles, Astropart. Phys. 19 (2003) 145 [astro-ph/0207073].
- [24] K. Zioutas, K. Dennerl, L. DiLella, D.H.H. Hoffmann, J. Jacoby and T. Papaevangelou, Quiet sun x-rays as signature for new particles, Astrophys. J. 607 (2004) 575 [astro-ph/0403176].
- [25] R. Horvat, M. Krcmar and B. Lakic, CERN Axion Solar Telescope as a probe of large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 125011 [astro-ph/0312030].
- [26] B. Lakić, R. Horvat and M. Krčmar, Axions and large extra dimensions, in Axions: Theory, Cosmology, and Experimental Searches, (Berlin, Heidelberg), pp. 73–82, Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2008), DOI.
- [27] D. Naples, R. Ayad, G. Bonvicini, M. Katz-Hyman, J. Martoff, J. Miyamoto et al., Search for axion-like particles from the sun in an underground negative-ion TPC, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 134 (2004) 130.
- [28] B. Morgan, N.J.C. Spooner, M.S. Armel-Funkhouser, D.P. Snowden-Ifft, D.H.H. Hoffmann, K. Zioutas et al., Searches for solar Kaluza-Klein axions with gas TPCs, Astropart. Phys. 23 (2005) 287.
- [29] R. Battesti, B. Beltrán, H. Davoudiasl, M. Kuster, P. Pugnat, R. Rabadán et al., Axion searches in the past, at present, and in the near future, in Axions: Theory, Cosmology, and Experimental Searches, M. Kuster, G. Raffelt and B. Beltrán, eds., (Berlin, Heidelberg), pp. 199–237, Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2008), DOI.

- [30] XMASS collaboration, Search for solar Kaluza-Klein axions by annual modulation with the XMASS-I detector, PTEP 2017 (2017) 103C01 [1707.08995].
- [31] F.V. de Sola Fernandez, Solar KK axion search with NEWS-G, Ph.D. thesis, Queen's University, 2020. http://hdl.handle.net/1974/28159.
- [32] R. Peccei, QCD, strong CP and axions, J. Korean Phys. Soc. 29 (1996) S199 [hep-ph/9606475].
- [33] G. Grilli di Cortona, E. Hardy, J. Pardo Vega and G. Villadoro, The QCD axion, precisely, JHEP 01 (2016) 034 [1511.02867].
- [34] M.I. Vysotsky, Y.B. Zeldovich, M.Y. Khlopov and V.M. Chechetkin, Some Astrophysical Limitations on Axion Mass, Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 27 (1978) 533.
- [35] G.G. Raffelt, Particle physics from stars, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 49 (1999) 163 [hep-ph/9903472].
- [36] Z.G. Berezhiani, A.S. Sakharov and M.Y. Khlopov, Primordial background of cosmological axions, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 55 (1992) 1063.
- [37] M. Tanabashi and al. (Particle Data Group), Extra dimensions, Phys.Rev.D 98 (2018) 030001 [https://pdg.lbl.gov/2018/listings/rpp2018-list-extra-dimensions.pdf].
- [38] D.J. Kapner, T.S. Cook, E.G. Adelberger, J.H. Gundlach, B.R. Heckel, C.D. Hoyle et al., Tests of the gravitational inverse-square law below the dark-energy length scale, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 021101 [hep-ph/0611184].
- [39] CMS collaboration, Search for new physics in final states with an energetic jet or a hadronically decaying W or Z boson and transverse momentum imbalance at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 092005 [1712.02345].
- [40] S. Hannestad and G.G. Raffelt, Supernova and neutron star limits on large extra dimensions reexamined, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 125008 [hep-ph/0304029].
- [41] J.E. Kim and G. Carosi, Axions and the Strong CP Problem, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82 (2010) 557 [0807.3125].
- [42] P.W. Graham, I.G. Irastorza, S.K. Lamoreaux, A. Lindner and K.A. van Bibber, Experimental Searches for the Axion and Axion-Like Particles, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 65 (2015) 485 [1602.00039].
- [43] G.G. Raffelt, Astrophysical axion bounds diminished by screening effects, Phys. Rev. D 33 (1986) 897.
- [44] D. Cadamuro, S. Hannestad, G. Raffelt and J. Redondo, Cosmological bounds on sub-MeV mass axions, JCAP 02 (2011) 003 [1011.3694].
- [45] D. Cadamuro and J. Redondo, Cosmological bounds on pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons, JCAP 02 (2012) 032 [1110.2895].
- [46] S. Turck-Chieze et al., Solar neutrino emission deduced from a seismic model, Astrophys. J. Lett. 555 (2001) L69.
- [47] G.G. Raffelt, Plasmon Decay Into Low Mass Bosons in Stars, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 1356.
- [48] N.V. Mikheev, D.A. Rumyantsev and Y.E. Shkol'nikova, On the resonant production of axions in a magnetar magnetosphere, JETP Letters 90 (2009) 668.
- [49] A. Caputo, A.J. Millar and E. Vitagliano, Revisiting longitudinal plasmon-axion conversion in external magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 123004 [2005.00078].
- [50] E. Guarini, P. Carenza, J. Galan, M. Giannotti and A. Mirizzi, Production of axionlike particles from photon conversions in large-scale solar magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123024 [2010.06601].

- [51] K.V. Tilburg, Stellar basins of gravitationally bound particles, 2020.
- [52] I.G. Hannah, G.J. Hurford, H.S. Hudson, R.P. Lin and K. van Bibber, First limits on the 3-200 keV X-ray spectrum of the quiet Sun using RHESSI, Astrophys. J. 659 (2007) L77 [astro-ph/0702726].
- [53] I. Hannah, H. Hudson, G. Hurford and R. Lin, Constraining the Hard X-ray Properties of the Quiet Sun with New RHESSI Observations, Astrophys. J. 724 (2010) 487 [1009.2918].
- [54] J. Sylwester, M. Kowalinski, S. Gburek, M. Siarkowski, S. Kuzin, F. Farnik et al., SphinX Measurements of the 2009 Solar Minimum X-Ray Emission, Astrophys. J. 751 (2012) 111 [1203.6809].
- [55] B. Sylwester, J. Sylwester, M. Siarkowski, K. Phillips, P. Podgorski and M. Gryciuk, Analysis of Quiescent Corona X-ray Spectra from SphinX During the 2009 Solar Minimum, Solar Physics 294 (2019) 176 [1912.03082].
- [56] A. Boyarsky, A. Neronov, O. Ruchayskiy, M. Shaposhnikov and I. Tkachev, Strategy for searching for a dark matter sterile neutrino, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006).
- [57] A. Boyarsky, J. Nevalainen and O. Ruchayskiy, Constraints on the parameters of radiatively decaying dark matter from the dark matter halo of the Milky Way and Ursa Minor, Astron. Astrophys. 471 (2007) 51 [astro-ph/0610961].
- [58] A. Boyarsky, D. Iakubovskyi, O. Ruchayskiy and V. Savchenko, Constraints on decaying dark matter from XMM-Newton observations of M31, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 387 (2008) 1361–1373.
- [59] A. Boyarsky, D. Malyshev, A. Neronov and O. Ruchayskiy, Constraining DM properties with SPI, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 387 (2008) 1345 [0710.4922].
- [60] L. Glesener, S. Krucker, J. Duncan, I.G. Hannah, B.W. Grefenstette, B. Chen et al., Accelerated electrons observed down to <7 keV in a NuSTAR solar microflare, Astrophys. J. Lett. 891 (2020) L34 [2003.12864].
- [61] J. Lean, The sun's variable radiation and its relevance for earth, Annu. Rev. Astron. Astrophys 35 (1997) 33.
- [62] J. Madej and A. Różańska, X-ray irradiated model stellar atmospheres III. Compton redistribution of thermal external irradiation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 347 (2004) 1266.
- [63] H. Schlattl, A. Weiss and G. Raffelt, Helioseismological constraint on solar axion emission, Astropart. Phys. 10 (1999) 353 [hep-ph/9807476].
- [64] P. Gondolo and G.G. Raffelt, Solar neutrino limit on axions and keV-mass bosons, Phys. Rev. D79 (2009) 107301 [0807.2926].
- [65] N. Vinyoles, A. Serenelli, F. Villante, S. Basu, J. Redondo and J. Isern, New axion and hidden photon constraints from a solar data global fit, JCAP 2015 (2015) 015 [1501.01639].
- [66] A.A. Zdziarski and R. Svensson, Absorption of X-Rays and Gamma Rays at Cosmological Distances, Astrophys. J. 344 (1989) 551.
- [67] J.H. Hubbell, Photon cross-sections, attenuation coefficients, and energy absorption coefficients from 10-KeV to 100-GeV (1969),
 [https://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/Legacy/NSRDS/nbsnsrds29.pdf].
- [68] K.R. Dienes, J. Kost and B. Thomas, Kaluza-klein towers in the early universe: Phase transitions, relic abundances, and applications to axion cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017).
- [69] J. Overduin and P. Wesson, Dark matter and background light, Physics Reports 402 (2004) 267–406.
- [70] A. Cooray, Extragalactic background light: Measurements and applications, R. Soc. Open Sci. 3 (2016) [1602.03512].

- [71] D. Santos et al., MIMAC: A micro-tpc matrix for dark matter directional detection, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 460 (2013) 012007 [1304.2255].
- [72] Q. Riffard et al., MIMAC low energy electron-recoil discrimination measured with fast neutrons, JINST 11 (2016) P08011 [1602.01738].
- [73] Y. Tao et al., Track length measurement of ¹⁹F⁺ ions with the MIMAC directional Dark Matter detector prototype, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 985 (2021) 164569 [1903.02159].
- [74] S.K. et al., The Spectrometer/Telescope for Imaging X-rays (STIX), A&A 642 (2020) A15.
- [75] J. Redondo, Solar axion flux from the axion-electron coupling, JCAP 1312 (2013) 008 [1310.0823].
- [76] LUX collaboration, First Searches for Axions and Axionlike Particles with the LUX Experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 261301.
- [77] XENON collaboration, Excess electronic recoil events in XENON1T, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 072004.
- [78] I. Irastorza, F. Avignone, S. Caspi, J. Carmona, T. Dafni, M. Davenport et al., Towards a new generation axion helioscope, JCAP 2011 (2011) 013–013.